FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/21/2020 10:35 AM Supreme Court No. <u>9913</u>6-7 FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/22/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

(Court of Appeals No. 52739-1-II)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Brian Cortland,

Respondent,

v.

Lewis County,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian Cortland, pro se 320 SE Sheridan Road Sheridan, OR 97378 310-721-2470 Fightpubliccorruption@yahoo.co m

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner Brian Cortland asks this Court to accept review of the Division II Court of Appeals published decision, designated part 2 of the Appendix herein.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Cortland asks this Court to review the Division II Court of Appeals published opinion in *Cortland v. Lewis County*, ____ Wn. App. ____ (2020), ruling that Lewis County did not violate the Public Records Act, Chapter 42.56 RCW, because it was still producing records in installments to Mr. Cortland when he failed to make a payment and Lewis County subsequently closed out his request. In making this ruling, the Court of Appeals failed to analyze a CR 2A settlement agreement entered into in the trial court, where Lewis County stipulated to wrongfully withholding 18 separate subject matter records from Mr. Cortland for 231 days under the Public Records Act.

Mr. Cortland submits this ruling contradicts previous rulings of the Washington Supreme Court and appellate courts, holding that Washington courts do not review matters that are stipulated to in CR 2A because settlement agreements are final and ends the controversy between the parties. *Wash. Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co.*, 51 Wn.2d 89, 91 (1957) (holding "A judgment by consent or stipulation of the parties is construed

as a contract between them embodying the terms of the judgment. It excuses all prior errors and operates to end all controversy between the parties, within the scope of the judgment."); *Winton Motor Carriage Co. v. Blomberg*, 84 Wash. 451, 457 (1915).

The complaint was filed in the Thurston County Superior Court by Mr. Cortland which claimed that Lewis County violated the Public Records Act by denying his statutory right to copy and inspect records. The trial court ordered both parties to brief the merits of whether Lewis County violated the Public Records Act by wrongfully withholding records from Mr. Cortland. On August 03, 2018, the trial court ruled that Lewis County violated the Public Records Act by denying Mr. Cortland the right to copy and inspect records because Lewis County failed to perform an adequate search as required under the Public Records Act. On October 30, 2018, both Plaintiff Brian Cortland and Defendant Lewis County entered into a CR 2A where Lewis county admitted to wrongfully withholding 18 separate subject matter records from Mr. Cortland for 231 days. On November 16, 2018, in open court, the trial court judge signed and entered a Final Order and Judgment incorporating the material terms from the CR 2A. The trial court awarded Mr. Cortland the stipulated statutory penalty fee from the CR 2A and all costs and reasonable attorneys fees.

This Court should accept review because the published decision from the court of appeals conflicts with the legal standard for reviewing issues that are stipulated to in a CR 2A found in *Wash. Asphalt* and *Winston Motor* because settlement agreements "excuse[] all prior errors and operates to end all controversy between the parties, within the scope of the judgment." *Wash. Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co.*, 51 Wn.2d 89, 91 (1957). This contrary ruling from court of appeals merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), and presents issues of substantial and recurring public interest meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should reaffirm the principle "[t]he purpose of CR 2A is to give certainty and finality to settlements." *Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 157 (2013).

III. ISSUES PRESSENTED FOR REVIEW

 Did the Court of Appeals improperly substitute its own judgment when it set aside the CR 2A settlement agreement in which the parties stipulated that Lewis County wrongfully withheld 18 separate subject matter records from Mr. Cortland under the Public Records Act?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 03, 2018, the trail court entered a written order on the merits of the case finding Lewis County in violation of the Public Records Act for wrongful withholding of records. CP 263-69. The order stated a penalty hearing would be scheduled after Lewis County certified it performed an adequate search pursuant to the adequate search requirements of the Public Records Act. CP 268-69.

On August 13, 2018, Lewis County timely moved the court for reconsideration of the written order on the merits finding Lewis County in violation of the Public Records Act. CP 270-85.

On September 12, 2018, the trail court denied Lewis County's motion for reconsideration and upheld the written order on the merits finding Lewis County violated the Public Records Act. CP 300.

On October 30, 2018, both Plaintiff Brian Cortland and Defendant Lewis County entered into a CR 2A settlement agreement. CP 317-18. The title of the CR 2A agreement is for a "Stipulated Statutory Penalty Pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4)." CP 317. The CR 2A expressly states the "merits order in this matter... presently being binding, both parties stipulate to the following statutory penalty, pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4)." *Id.* The terms of the CR 2A identifies that both parties stipulated that Lewis County wrongfully withheld eighteen (18) documents from Mr. Cortland for a period of two hundred and thirty-one (231) days. *Id.* Additionally, both parties agreed that Lewis County would pay Mr. Cortland a "per record per day penalty" of five (\$5) dollars amounting to a total of twenty thousand and seven hundred and ninety

4

(\$20,790) dollars. CP 318.

On November 16, 2018, in open court, the trial court judge signed and entered a Final Order and Judgment. CP 322-23. The Final Order and Judgment was signed by both Lewis County's attorney of record and Mr. Cortland's attorney of record. CP 323; 3 VRP 6. The bottom left-hand corner of the Final Order and Judgment identifies it was presented by Lewis County's attorney of record and agreed to by Mr. Cortland's attorney of record. Id. The Final Order and Judgement incorporates the terms from the CR 2A, including that eighteen (18) records were wrongfully withheld by Lewis County for a period of two hundred and thirty-one (231) days. CP 323. Before signing and entering the Final Order and Judgment the trial court asked the attorneys for both parties in open court "there any reason I shouldn't enter this final order and judgment that you both have signed?" 3 VRP 6. The record is absent of either Lewis County's attorney or Mr. Cortland's attorney objecting to the Final Order and Judgment. 3 VRP 6-7. The Judgment was entered for twenty thousand and seven hundred and ninety (\$20,790) dollars, the same amount as stipulated in the CR 2A. CP 322; c.f. CP 318.

V. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to correct the court of appeals substitution of its own judgment when it set

aside the CR 2A settlement agreement in which the parties stipulated that Lewis County wrongfully withheld 18 separate subject matter records from Mr. Cortland under the Public Records Act.

The published decision from the Court of Appeals mentioned in passing the CR 2A but failed to analyze it. Instead, it substituted its own judgment when bypassed and turned a blind eye to the CR 2A by holding that Lewis County did not violate the Public Records Act because it did not wrongfully withhold documents from Mr. Cortland.

A. This Court Should Grant Review Under RAP 13.1(b)(1), (2), (and (4) Because the Division II's Published Decision Contradicts Longstanding Authority of Both the Supreme Court and Appellate Courts Regarding the Certainty and Finality of CR 2A Agreements

In its published Opinion in which it ruled that Lewis County did not violate the Public Records Act by wrongfully withholding documents from Mr. Cortland, the Court of Appeals does not analyze the material terms within the four corners of the CR 2A settlement agreement. In doing so, the Court of Appeals substituted its own judgment in place of the CR 2A where the parties stipulated that Lewis County wrongfully withheld 18 separate subject matter records from Mr. Cortland under the Public Records Act. The failure of the Court of Appeals to analyze the CR 2A is to contrary to well-established law because the Court ruled on an issue contained within the CR 2A, without analyzing the material terms the parties stipulated to within the CR 2A settlement. Consequently, the Court reached an absurd result by ruling contrary to the agreed terms of the CR 2A.

There are two primary legal authorities in Washington State that bind parties to their settlement agreements, when made in legal proceedings – court rule CR 2A and RCW 2.44.010.

The plain language of the court rule CR 2A provides:

No agreement or consent between parties or attorneys in respect to the proceedings in a cause, the purport of which is disputed, will be regarded by the court unless the same shall have been made and assented to in open court on the record, or entered in the minutes, or unless the evidence thereof shall be in writing and subscribed by the attorneys denying the same.

CR 2A.

Touching upon the substance of the CR 2A, state law gives an

attorney the authority:

To bind his or her client in any of the proceedings in an action or special proceeding by his or her agreement duly made, or entered upon the minutes of the court; but **the court shall disregard all agreements and stipulations in relation to the conduct of, or any of the proceedings in, an action or special proceeding unless such agreement or stipulation be made in open court**, or in presence of the clerk, and entered in the minutes by him or her, or signed by the party against whom the same is alleged, or his or her attorney. RCW 2.44.010(1) (emphasis added).

As this Court has said, "[t]he purpose of CR 2A is to give certainty and finality to settlements." *Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 157 (2013); *Haller v. Wallis*, 89 Wn.2d 539, 544 (1978) ("[t]he law favors settlements, and consequently it must also favor their finality"). The CR 2A becomes final when it is entered into open court. CR 2A; RCW 2.44.010.¹ The only reasons why a court will review a CR 2A is if the settlement agreement was obtained by "fraud or overreaching." *Snyder v. Tompkins*, 20 Wn. App. 167, 173 (1978). The public policy behind the courts general refusal to review issues contained in a CR 2A agreement is because it "excuses all prior errors and operates to end all controversy between the parties, within the scope of the judgment." *Wash. Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co.*, 51 Wn.2d 89, 91 (1957); *Winton Motor Carriage Co. v. Blomberg*, 84 Wash. 451, 457 (1915).

In this present case, it is undisputed that both parties through their attorneys of record entered into a CR 2A settlement agreement in open court. The material terms of the CR 2A are: 1. Lewis County wrongfully withheld 18 separate subject matter records from Mr. Cortland for 231 days; 2. Lewis County will pay \$20,790 for the wrongful withholding to

¹ The plain language of both CR 2A and RCW 2.44.010 expressly state the agreements must be entered into in "open court."

Mr. Cortland; 3. The money is paid to Mr. Cortland for a violation of the Public Records Act, pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4). CP 316-17.

The trial court then relied upon that CR 2A agreement when deciding what terms to put in the final order and judgment, as the Final Order and Judgment is almost identical to the CR 2A. The Final Order and Judgment expressly states that: 1. Lewis County wrongfully withheld 18 separate subject matter records from Mr. Cortland for 231 days; 2. Judgement is entered for Mr. Cortland in the amount of \$20,790 because of the wrongful withholding; 3. The statutory penalty was imposed against Lewis County and to be paid to Mr. Cortland for a violation of the Public Records Act. CP 322-323. Before signing and entering the Final Order and Judgment the trial court asked the attorneys for both parties in open court "there any reason I shouldn't enter this final order and judgment that you both have signed?" 3 VRP 6. Neither party objected to the trial court judge entering the final order and judgment. 3 VRP 6-7.

Looking within the four corners of the CR 2A it is clear the parties intended to stipulate to that Lewis County violated the Public Records Act because the stipulation was made pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4) and included the number of documents wrongfully withheld, the number of days the documents were withheld, and the statutory penalty fee for the wrongful withholding. There is no dispute that a statutory penalty is mandatory for a violation of the Public Records Act. RCW 42.56.550(4); *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*, 152 Wn.2d 421, 433 (Wash. 2004) (agreeing with the *Sheehan* court that penalties are mandatory for a violation of the Public Records Act); *West v. Thurston County*, 144 Wn.App. 573, 581 (2008) (explaining "[p]enalties for late disclosure are mandatory" under RCW 42.56.550(4)"). The plain language of the RCW 42.56.550(4) is clear that a wrongful withholding of documents is a violation of the Public Records Act. *See e.g. Double H v. Washington Dept. of Ecology*, 166 Wn.App. 707, 713 (2012) (stating "a penalty is mandatory when a requesting party is improperly denied access to a public record under the PRA"). Lewis County and its attorney of record knew it was admitting a violation of the Public Records Act when it stipulated in the CR 2A to: 1. Wrongfully withholding 18 separate records; 2. For 231 days; and 3. To pay a statutory penalty of \$20,790 to Mr. Cortland.

It appears the Court of Appeals erroneously decided the 18 wrongfully withheld records identified in the CR 2A are somehow judicial records. Without explanation, the Court of Appeals stated in a footnote, in the published decision, that: "[t]he 18 records that Lewis County stipulated to withholding were judicial records Lewis County found in the re-search that it had not produced in the original three installments." *Cortland v. Lewis County*, ____ Wn. App. ____, ___ n. 6 (2020). But this is

an erroneous conclusion without any substantiation from the terms within the four corners of the CR 2A. The plain language of the CR 2A states the agreement stipulated to a statutory penalty "pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4)." CP 316. RCW 42.56.550(4) is the penalty provision of the Public Records Act, in which penalties are mandatory for a violation of the statute. The four corners of the CR 2A agreement is absent of any indicia the records are judicial records. The term 'judicial records' does not appear within in the CR 2A. There is nothing within the four corners of the CR 2A to reasonably construe the records are judicial records. The plain language of the CR 2A states that "eighteen (18) separate subject matter records were wrongfully withheld" with no indication to where the records were retrieved from. CP 316. Furthermore, the published decision is absent of any factual finding that the 18 wrongfully withheld records were somehow judicial. Without any substantial evidence to the contrary, the trial court's finding the records were subject to the Public Records Act is a verity upon appeal. Rush v. Blackburn, 361 P. 3d 217, 222 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015) (stating "[u]nchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal" and "[u]nchallenged conclusions of law become the law of the case"). Lewis County made the strategic decision not to challenge the CR 2A or any of the substance of the CR 2A on appeal.

Consequently, as a matter of law, since the CR 2A was entered into open court, it ended all controversy as to whether Lewis County violated the Public Records Act by wrongfully withholding records from Mr. Cortland, since it was made pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4). By Lewis County's own admission in the CR 2A settlement agreement, it unequivocally violated the law by wrongfully withholding 18 separate subject matter records.

The published decision from the Court of Appeals is contrary to the material terms within the four corners of the CR 2A. This is because the Court of Appeals substituted its own judgment in holding that Lewis County did not wrongfully withhold documents from Mr. Cortland under the Public Records Act, when the CR 2A unquestionably states that Lewis County wrongfully withheld documents under the Public Records Act from Mr. Cortland.

If this Court does not accept review of this case and fail to reverse the published opinion from the Court of Appeals, CR 2A agreements will no-longer be certain and final, which will undermine more than 100 years of published precedent in Washington State. This arbitrary and capricious published opinion from the Court of Appeals will clog up the courts and waste the resources of litigants and the judiciary because the court rule will be permissive instead of mandatory, increasing litigation as to whether there is a settlement or not.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Petitioner Brian Cortland respectfully request that this Court grant review, pursuant to RAP13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4), to review the Court of Appeals holding that Lewis County did not violate the Public Records Act by wrongfully withholding documents from Mr. Cortland.