FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/18/2020 4:40 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99136-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 52739-1-II)

BRIAN CORTLAND,

Petitioner,

VS.

LEWIS COUNTY,

Respondent.

LEWIS COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Petition from the Washington Court of Appeals, Division II

JONATHAN MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Eric Eisenberg Chief Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 42315

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY

Respondent Lewis County, by and through Deputy
Prosecuting Attorney Eric Eisenberg, answers the petition for review.

II. RELIEF REQUESTED

The Court should deny review in this matter. The Court of Appeals opinion is not in conflict with prior decisions, and the petition does not raise an issue that the Supreme Court should determine.

III. GROUNDS FOR MOTION

RAP 13.4(d) allows a party to answer a petition for review.

IV. FACTS

Mr. Cortland petitions for review from the Court of Appeals decision reversing the trial court in this matter. *Cortland v. Lewis Cty.*, 14 Wn. App.2d 249, 250-51, ____ P.3d ____ (2020).¹

In late 2016, Mr. Cortland submitted a Public Records Act (PRA) request to Lewis County. Lewis County provided records in installments and, by July 2017, had provided close to 4000 records. *Id.* at 251-52. Lewis County contacted Mr. Cortland in August and October 2017 concerning his next installment of records, noting that it would provide a cost estimate under a new law imposing fees for public records. *Id.*

¹ The opinion is included in the Appendix as Attachment 1.

Mr. Cortland sued shortly after Lewis County's October communication, alleging that he had not heard from Lewis County since August and had been denied access to records. *Id.* at 253. Lewis County denied the allegations and continued to search for and provide records to Mr. Cortland, offering another installment about a month after the suit was filed. *Id.* When Mr. Cortland declined to pay for these records, Lewis County informed him that if he did not claim and pay for the installment within 30 days, he would abandon his request. Mr. Cortland failed to pay or respond after 30 days, and Lewis County closed his request, ceasing its search for records. *Id.*

In a merits order, the trial court concluded that, although Lewis County was providing records without stoppage at the time of the suit, it violated the PRA by failing to prove the adequacy of its search while the search was ongoing. *Id.* at 253-55. The trial court declined to reconsider even though Lewis County had continued its ongoing response up until the point Mr. Cortland abandoned the request. *Id.* The court ordered Lewis County to re-perform the search. *Id.* at 256. Having lost on the merits and being bound by the order, Lewis County re-searched and supplied more records to Mr. Cortland. *Id.*

Lewis County then offered to stipulate to a penalties analysis to speed entry of final judgment, expressing its desire to preserve its right to appeal and claim that the merits order was erroneous. *Id.*; see also CP at 348-49.² Mr. Cortland disputed that such a procedure was lawful, which the parties discussed at length. CP at 329-30, 337-44, 347. Lewis County noted its preservation of its right to appeal at the time of the final deal, *id.* at 329-30, which resulted in a stipulation, agreed motion, and penalties order, *id.* at 314-23.³ The stipulation was predicated on the trial courts' merits order being binding, *id.* at 317, and the agreed motion and penalties order each reflected that the parties disputed whether the stipulation affected any right to appeal, *id.* at 314-15, 322-23.³

Both parties presented the agreed motion and order to the trial court. *Cortland*, 14 Wn. App.2d at 256. Lewis County made a record of its desire to preserve its right to appeal:

I think it is important for Lewis County to make one additional thing on the record. You'll see from the written documents the parties dispute what effect, if any, this proposed agreed order would have on either party's rights to appeal, and I just thought it was worth pointing out that there is a dispute over that. There isn't any specific agreement on that.

. . . .

[I]n candor to the court, Lewis County wishes to preserve its right to appeal potentially the underlying

² The email chain representing CP pages 324 through 352 is included in the Appendix as Attachment 2. It shows the negotiations leading to the stipulation.

³ The agreed motion and stipulation are included in the Appendix as Attachment 3. The final agreed order is included as Attachment 4.

merits ruling and does not believe that stipulating to the penalty that follows from that merits ruling, while that ruling is binding on Lewis County because this court made it, would waive its right to appeal the underlying merits ruling. And so it wished to reflect that the parties don't have any agreement on that in the order to avoid waiver.

Id. at 256-57. Mr. Cortland disputed Lewis County's right to appeal. The trial court acknowledged the dispute and signed the stipulated order. *Id.* at 257.

Lewis County appealed, challenging the trial court's merits ruling that it violated the PRA and the ensuing penalties, costs, and fees imposed. *Id.* The parties litigated whether appeal was permissible, with Mr. Cortland asserting that the stipulation and agreed order waived or invited any error. *Id.* at 250.

Reciting the procedural history described herein, the Court of Appeals held that Lewis County had preserved its right to appeal the merits ruling on which it litigated and lost. See id. at 256-57 & n.4. It then reversed the trial court's merits ruling, holding that Lewis County had proved an adequate search: its search for and production of records was ongoing at the time of Mr. Cortland's suit and thereafter until he abandoned the request. *Id.* at 250, 259. As a result. Mr. Cortland suffered no denial of access and had no PRA

cause of action; moreover, Lewis County had no duty to prove the adequacy of its search while the search was ongoing. *Id.*

Lewis County moved for publication of the opinion, which the Court of Appeals granted. Order Granting Motion to Publish Opinion, No. 52379-1-II (Sept. 29, 2020). Mr. Cortland, pro se, sought timely review in this Court.⁴

V. ARGUMENT

The Court should deny review. The opinion below is consistent with prior law and addresses only statutory issues. It does not call for Supreme Court review because it is correct on fairly specific facts, and because Mr. Cortland did not seek review of the PRA issues in the case, diminishing its usefulness for precedential decisionmaking.

1. Legal Standard

The Court will accept review of a case only if the decision below conflicts with a prior decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals, raises a significant question of constitutional law, or raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. RAP 13.4.

⁴ Mr. Cortland was represented in the Court of Appeals by Attorney Joseph Thomas, who withdrew shortly before the Petition for Review was filed. The Petition for Review mirrors Mr. Thomas's prior briefing and argument; he likely prepared the petition for Mr. Cortland as a courtesy before withdrawing.

2. The Decision Below Does Not Conflict With Prior Law.

Mr. Cortland claims that the decision below conflicts with prior decisions treating stipulated judgments as the end of the controversy. He is mistaken. In the cases he cites, the stipulating parties made no record preserving a right to appeal a portion of the case. See Wash. Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co., 51 Wn.2d 89, 90-91, 316 P.2d 126 (1957); Winton Motor Carriage Co. v. Blomberg, 84 Wash. 451, 453-55 & 457-58, 147 P. 21 (1915); Calibrate Prop. Mgmt., LLC v. Nhye, No. 73796-1-I, 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 2686, at *2-4 (Ct. App. Nov. 7, 2016) (unpublished). Here, in contrast, the record shows that Lewis County, having litigated and lost on a preliminary issue, stipulated to effects of that ruling to speed final judgment for appeal. Cortland, 14 Wn. App.2d at 253-57 & n.4.

The Court of Appeals' different result follows from this different record, distinguishing rather than conflicting with the prior decisions. The prior cases only hold the stipulated judgment to "end all controversy between the parties[] within the scope of the judgment." Wash. Asphalt Co., 51 Wn.2d at 91 (emphasis added). Because the judgment here explicitly noted the possibility of appeal, permitting the appeal in this matter did not conflict with the prior decisions. Indeed, the law Mr. Cortland cites notes that settlements are to be interpreted

as contracts. *Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 162 (2013). Here, the contract and the negotiations showed that the parties left the issue of appeal in dispute for another day, CP at 314-23, 329-30, 337-44, 347-49; they did not settle it with the stipulation, thus allowing for appeal.

Permitting an appeal from such agreements is consistent with a second line of cases allowing appeal from stipulated facts bench trials. A criminal defendant who loses a pretrial motion may stipulate to the admissibility and sufficiency of facts under the terms of the order he or she believes in incorrect. He or she is then convicted and sentenced, and can appeal the conviction and underlying order. See, e.g., State v. Brown, 166 Wn. App. 99, 101-02, 269 P.3d 359 (2012), State v. McCarty, 152 Wn. App. 351, 356-58, 215 P.3d 1036 (2009); State v. Bale, No. 44709-6-II, 2015 Wash. App. LEXIS 3, at *12 (Ct. App. Jan. 6, 2015) (unpublished). This approach is not uncommon. The Court of Appeals' use of it was consist with prior law, and This Court should deny review.

3. The Issues At Stake Are Statutory, Not Constitutional.

The Court of Appeals decision addressed the Public Records
Act and CR 2A stipulations. Mr. Cortland raises only the latter, citing

statutes and case law concerning stipulated judgments. Because no constitutional claims are at issue, the Court should deny review.

4. This Case Does Not Call For Supreme Court Review.

The decision below does not call for review in this Court because it is correctly decided on fairly specific facts, and because Mr. Cortland undercut the case's precedent-setting value by failing to petition on any of the PRA issues.

As raised in the petition for review, the only issue is the effect of the stipulated judgment on appeal. The record below quite extensively preserved Lewis County's right to appeal, and the Court of Appeals' decision to allow the appeal was correct on these specific facts (as set forth above). This Court can simply let the decision stand—it need not take up the matter to reiterate this conclusion.

If this Court were to consider the Court of Appeals' PRA holdings a matter of substantial public interest, the Court of Appeals' decision is again correct. When an agency is provides records in ongoing installments, it has not "denied access" to the records, and a PRA suit is premature. See John Doe v. Benton Cty., 200 Wn. App. 781, 788-89, 403 P.3d 861 (2017); Rufin v. City of Seattle, 199 Wn. App. 348, 357-58, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017); Hobbs v. Wash. State Auditor's Office, 183 Wn. App. 925, 936, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014);

Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol, 183 Wn. App. 644, 651-52, 334 P.3d 94 (2014). Lewis County was providing installments to Mr. Cortland until he declined to claim and pay for an installment, relieving Lewis County of the duty to finish its search and production of records. RCW 42.56.120(4) ("If an installment of a records request is not claimed or reviewed, the agency is not obligated to fulfill the balance of the request."); accord WAC 44-14-04005(1) (2nd paragraph). So, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded on the specific record herein that Lewis County had not violated the PRA. The Court need not duplicate the work of the Court of Appeals to articulate this point.

Even if it wished to do so, the Court would need to stretch its normal practice to reach the PRA issues. Mr. Cortland sought review only of the stipulation's effect on appeal. Ordinarily, the Court will review only the issues raised by the petitioner. RAP 13.7(b). Mr. Cortland's narrowing of the issues in play in the Supreme Court undercuts the value of this case for precedential decisionmaking. Because the decision below is correct, has relatively unique facts, and is only halfway raised in the petition, the case is not one the Supreme Court should determine. The Court should deny review.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny review. The opinion below is consistent with prior law, addresses no constitutional issues, and does not call for Supreme Court review. It is correctly decided on specific facts, and Mr. Cortland undermined its import by neglecting to seek review on the PRA issues.